
 
 
 

Highways Committee 
 
 
Date Tuesday 28 June 2011 

Time 10.00 am 

Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
 
1. Minutes of the Meetings held on 11 and 19 April 2011  (Pages 1 - 8) 

2. Declarations of Interest, if any   

3. C154 Sawmills Lane, Brandon, Parking Restrictions - Report of 
Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services  (Pages 9 - 16) 

4. Proposed Tables And Chairs Licence - Stanley Jefferson Public House, 
5 Market Place, Bishop Auckland - Report of Corporate Director, 
Regeneration  (Pages 17 - 42) 

5. Stanhope Ford - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
Services  (Pages 43 - 50) 

6. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Colette Longbottom 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
20 June 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
To: The Members of the Highways Committee 

 
 Councillor G Bleasdale (Chair) 

Councillor J Robinson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, D Burn, N Foster, D Hancock, 
S Hugill, D Marshall, J Maslin, A Naylor, J Shiell, P Stradling, 
T Taylor, L Thomson, R Todd, E Tomlinson, J Turnbull, C Woods, 
A Wright and R Young 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  Joanne Collins                   
Tel 0191 3836648 

Email: joanne.collins@durham.gov.uk 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on 
Monday 11 April 2011 at 2.30 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor  J Robinson (Vice Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors  B Arthur, A Bainbridge, S Hugill, D Marshall, T Taylor, L Thomson, R Todd, 
E Tomlinson and A Wright 
 
Officers: 
Chris Simmonds (Legal Advisor) and D Roberts (Democratic Services) 
 
Apologies: 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G Bleasdale, D Burn, D Hancock, 
J Maslin, D Morgan, J Shiell, P Stradling, C Woods and R Young 
 
Also Present: P Holding (representing the County Council, landowner and objector) 

 
1 Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
NOTE: Prior to consideration of the report the Vice-chair confirmed that all 
members of the Highways Committee present at the meeting had received training 
on village green matters. He noted that the Committee would be addressed by 
representatives of the applicant and objector and by Councillor O Temple (local 
member). He also referred to the site visit that had taken place earlier that day and 
in particular to representations received from both the applicant and objector that 
they had been denied the opportunity to attend because of incorrect information 
provided with regard to the meeting point. He indicated that this matter would be 
considered once the Committee had heard from the speakers, although he pointed 
out that neither side would have been permitted to put their arguments at the site 
visit anyway.  
 
Copies of a letter received from Mr J Campbell (Consett Green Spaces Group) 
were circulated to members of the Committee and the objector’s representative; 
colour copies of a map illustrating land affected by various conveyances were also 
circulated to members and the applicant, objector and Councillor Temple. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



2 Village Green Registration: Belle Vue Playing Fields, Consett  
 
The Legal Adviser presented the report of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services to assist the Committee in determining an application to register land 
known as Belle Vue Playing Fields as Town or Village Green under the provisions 
of the Commons Act 2006.  
 
The report detailed the background to the application (made in October 2009 by Mr 
J Campbell as chair of the Consett Green Spaces Group). Following receipt of an 
objection from the Council’s Asset Management Service (the Council being the 
landowner) an independent inspector was appointed to conduct a Non-Statutory 
Public Inquiry, which was duly held between 12th and 15th July 2010. The Inspector 
had provided an initial report and, following the receipt of further comments from 
both the applicant and objector, a final report in February 2011.  
 
The report outlined the Committee’s role in determining the application and 
summarised relevant case law and the legal test to be applied in determining the 
application. The Inspector’s findings, detailed in the report, had led him to 
recommend that the application for registration be refused.  
 
The Committee was addressed by the applicant, Mr J Campbell, who suggested 
that the Inspector’s recommendation was unsound and that the application should 
be granted. 
 
Mr Campbell pointed out that both the Inspector and the County Council had 
conceded that all elements of the legal test were met, with the exception of the ‘as 
of right’ use of the land; he argued that the Inspector’s conclusion that a deed made 
by the Urban District Council of Consett in 1964 established permission for the 
public to use the land was unsafe. He did not believe that this document 
established conclusively that the public used the land ‘by right’ rather than ‘as of 
right’.  
 
Mr Campbell reviewed the history of transactions relating to the Application land 
and concluded that the bulk of the land was not acquired ‘for the purpose of public 
walks and pleasure grounds’ and that it was not acquired or appropriated under the 
Public Health Act or Open Spaces Act. He did not believe that the application 
should be refused on the basis of an obscure deed drawn up almost 50 years ago 
and urged members to grant the application as use of the land had been ‘as of 
right’, as required by the law. 
 
The Vice-chair gave members an opportunity to seek clarification on any matter 
from Mr Campbell and the Legal Adviser, following which (there being no points 
raised) the Committee was addressed by Councillor Temple. 
 
Councillor Temple emphasised that Belle Vue Playing Fields had been used by the 
public for many, many years and that they had done so ‘as of right’ – they had not 
needed to seek permission to do so; no-one knew or cared who owned the land. He 
referred to various paragraphs in the Inspector’s report which he felt highlighted 
certain inconsistencies. He noted that, had the applicants been aware of the 
importance of the 1964 Deed and the interpretation of it, they would have focused 

Page 2



on it a good deal more at the Inquiry. He reminded members that lawyers in the 
case seemed to agree that the 1964 Deed was a ‘bad document’ and that the 
Highways Committee was charged with making the decision in this case, not the 
Inspector. 
 
Mrs P Holding, solicitor, representing the County Council (landowner and objector) 
then addressed the Committee. She complimented the Inspector on the way he had 
conducted the Inquiry and on the thoroughness of his report; she supported his 
conclusion that the application should be rejected. She reiterated the Council’s 
argument that most of the application site was used by the public because it was 
open space that they were entitled to use for recreation purposes by virtue of the 
1964 Deed. She acknowledged that the Deed was not well drafted but emphasised 
that the Inspector had carefully considered all the evidence and documentation 
presented at the Inquiry. She referred to conveyances produced by the Council, 
one of which dated back to 1936 and which identified the Application land as open 
space. She supported the Inspector’s conclusions on the status of the land and 
pointed out that land which may look and feel like Village Green cannot be 
registered as such unless it meets the strict criteria of section 15(2) of the 
Commons Act 2006; this application failed to meet those requirements and so she 
asked the Committee to reject it. 
 
The Legal Adviser noted that, having heard the arguments, it was now up to 
members to determine the application; he asked that they read paragraphs 11 and 
12 of the Inspector’s final report again as members had been referred to theses 
paragraphs and it was important to set them in context and members were afforded 
an opportunity to do so. 
 
The Vice-chair referred to earlier comments about the site visit and asked members 
to consider whether, in the circumstances, a further site visit should take place.  
The Legal Adviser advised that it was for the Committee to consider whether there 
was benefit to be gained from an accompanied site visit for elements of the site to 
be pointed out by the applicant and objector in which case the matter should be 
deferred for a further site visit.  If members considered that they had seen 
everything relevant to their deliberations they may decide not to defer for a further 
site visit.   
 
It was decided not to hold another site visit. 
 
Councillor D Marshall proposed that the application be refused; he was seconded 
by Councillor Todd. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the application to register land known as Belle Vue Playing Fields as Town or 
Village Green under the provisions of the Commons Act 2006 be refused. 
 
With reference to the question of whether those areas of land not falling within the 
area described in the 1964 Deed should be registered by the Committee of its own 
volition as Town or Village Green Councillor Tomlinson moved that the Committee 
should not so register the land as there was insufficient evidence of use of those 
areas to meet the legal test; he was seconded by Councillor Wright. 

Page 3



 
RESOLVED: 
That the land not within the area described in the 1964 Deed should not be 
registered by the Committee of its own volition.  
 
 
 

Page 4



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham 
on Tuesday 19 April 2011 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor G Bleasdale (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, S Hugill, D Marshall, D Morgan, A Naylor, J Shiell, 
P Stradling, L Thomson, R Todd, A Wright and R Young 
 
Officers: 
D Wilcox (Strategic Highways Manger), Pat Holding (Legal Advisor) and D Roberts 
(Democratic Services) 
 
Apologies: 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Robinson,  D Burn, D Hancock 
and ETomlinson 
 

 
1 Declarations of Interest 

 
Councillor Bainbridge declared a personal interest in item 3 – Proposed Traffiic 
Regulation Order for Co-operative Street/C184 Front Street, Chester-le-Street  
 

2 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 9 February and 3 March 2011 were agreed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

3 Proposed Traffic Regulation Order: Co-operative Street/C184 Front Street, 
Chester-le-Street  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
Services advising of representations received with regard to a proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order for Co-operative Street/C184 Front Street, Chester-le-Street. 
 
The report summarised the background to the proposal, which was intended to 
regularise an existing traffic restriction in this vicinity. A consultation exercise had 
been undertaken and resulted in one objection being received. However, no reason 
was given for this objection and so no specific response could be made. 
 
It was noted that the police, ambulance service and local members were supportive 
of the proposal.  
 
 

Page 5



RESOLVED: 
That the Committee endorses the proposal to set aside the objection and proceed 
with the implementation of the Traffic Regulation Order, as outlined in the report. 
 

4 B6277 Speed Limit Review  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
Services advising of objections received to proposed speed limits on the B6277 
road in Middleton in Teesdale and on the B6277, C162 and C163 roads at 
Cotherstone. 
 
The report summarised the background to the proposal, which was the result of a 
review of speed limits on the full length of the B6277, undertaken in accordance 
with best practice guidance produced by the Department for Transport.  
 
It was noted that research and experience gained at other locations within the 
County had shown that the imposition of speed limits which were appropriate to the 
environment through which the motorist was travelling resulted in improved driver 
compliance.  Hence it was proposed to make a Traffic Regulation Order to regulate 
speed limits on the B6277 and adjoining roads between Startforth and Langdon 
Beck.  
The order would formalise the existing speed limits in the majority of cases, with the 
exception of (a) C162 Briscoe Lane, Cotherstone and (b) C163 Clint Lane, 
‘Lancelands’, Cotherstone.  In relation to (a) it was proposed that the 30mph speed 
limit on Briscoe Lane be relocated 50 metres in a westerly direction so that it is in 
line with the western most street light.  In relation to (b) it was also proposed that a 
de-restriction order be raised to cover the street lit section to the south west of the 
30mph zone on the C163 Clint Lane. 

 
The proposals were agreed with Durham Constabulary and neither of the local 
members objected. Following a consultation exercise, however, a number of 
objections/representations were received, four of which remained after an 
amendment had been made to the initial proposal.  
 
These objections/representations were detailed in the report and the Committee 
was also made aware of an email which had been received from the Chair of 
Middleton in Teesdale and Newbiggin Parish Council emphasising a request to 
extend the 30mph speed limit further out of the village on the northbound approach. 
The meeting was also addressed by Mr I Moorhouse, Chair of Cotherstone Parish 
Council, with regard to the Council’s request to extend the 30mph speed limit at two 
locations. With regard to the first of these (B6277 south of Fitzhugh Court), Mr 
Moorhouse referred to the location of a sheltered housing development of 9 
bungalows (The Close). There were no garages provided and so a number of cars 
were parked on the roadside and, whilst the development was within the 30mph 
speed limit, residents were anxious to have the speed limit extended as far as the 
existing village nameplate. He provided a letter from residents of The Close 
confirming this. With regard to the second location (C162 Briscoe Lane), Mr 
Moorhouse asked for the 30mph speed limit to be extended further west than was 
proposed. The final objection related to the C165 Clint Lane in the vicinity of 
‘Lancelands’, Cotherstone where a resident had requested that the 30mph speed 
limit be extended southwest to a location beyond ‘Pinners Cottage’.  

Page 6



 
In responding to the points made by Mr Moorhouse, and to the other 
objections/representations, the Strategic Highways Manager emphasised that the 
proposals were the most appropriate to the circumstances and noted that driver 
compliance with speed limits was improved when those limits were credible and 
appropriate to the environment. Members were then given an opportunity to 
comment on and ask questions about the proposals. The Legal Adviser suggested 
that each of the four elements of the proposals which had been objected to should 
be dealt with separately and that, if members were minded to agree to speed limits 
being extended further than had been proposed by officers, the original proposal 
should be agreed with the proviso that officers be asked to consult on a further 
extension.     
 
RESOLVED: 

(a) That the Committee endorses the proposal to set aside the objections in 
respect of the northbound approach (B6277) to Middleton in Teesdale and 
the ‘Lancelands’ (C165 Clint Lane) approach to Cotherstone. 

 
(b) That the Traffic Regulation Order to regulate speed limits on the B6277 and   

adjoining roads between Startforth and Langdon Beck be implemented 
subject to further consideration being given to the extension of the speed 
limits on the B6277 road south of Fitzhugh Court and on the C162 road 
(Briscoe Lane) west of ‘Balder Croft’, in accordance with the representations 
made by Cotherstone Parish Council and as detailed in the report. 

 
 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 

Highways Committee 
 

June 2011 
 

C154 Sawmills Lane, Brandon, Parking 
Restrictions 
 

 

 

 
 

Report of Terry Collins, Corporate Director Neighbourhood Services 

Councillor Bob Young, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Environment and Leisure 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To advise Committee of representations received to the proposed No Waiting 
and No Loading Restrictions for the C154 Sawmills Lane, Brandon. 

2 Having considered the objections to the proposal, the Committee is 
recommended to endorse the proposal and proceed with the implementation 
of No Waiting / No Loading at Any Time Parking Restrictions from the junction 
of the A690 to Grove Road, Brandon 

Background 

3 Representations have been received regarding the ongoing problem of 
uncontrolled parking along Sawmills Lane and particularly close to the area 
around Stoneacre Garage and obstruction of footways.    

4 Concerns have also been expressed regarding the parking near to the 
location of the school crossing patrol and also outside the doctors’ surgery 
which can result in vehicles backing onto the A690. 

5 A set of proposals were developed and distributed for consultation.  Following 
this period, the Council presented the proposals to the local Resident’s 
Association and changes were introduced to address some of their concerns. 

6 Further public meetings were held to discuss the parking issues and possible 
proposals which included one involving Roberta Blackman-Woods MP. 

Proposal 

7 The provision of various parking restrictions along C154 Sawmills Lane, these 
measures to include No Waiting at Any Time and No Waiting / No Loading At 
Any Time and also bollards to prevent pavement parking as per the attached 
plan in Appendix 2. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



 2 

Consultations 

8 A consultation was carried out from 16 October 2008 to 12 November 2008.  
During this period 6 representations against the proposal were received from 
local residents.  6 residents responded in favour of the proposal 

9 The order was formally advertised from 14 January 2010 to 12 February 2010.  
During this period representation was received from Mr Lavery opposing the 
proposal. 

10 An objection from the Resident’s Association to the legal Order was withdrawn 
following discussions with Council officers and the Police. 

11 The scheme is also fully supported by the Police, Arriva and the North East 
Ambulance Service. 

12 The local County Councillors, Paul Taylor and John Turnbull are minded to 
support the proposal. 

Objections and responses 

13 Representation 1 

This issue was raised by 3 respondents. 
“It fails to address the significant danger posed by cars constantly parked 
outside the garage / To ease congestion and improve safety needs double 
yellow lines on both sides of the road / If any lines are going to be put in place 
on this road it HAS to be on both sides”. 

 

14 Response 1 

Removing all parking in this area is likely to increase traffic speed on Sawmills 
Lane. This is a known outcome where parking restrictions are introduced, and 
given the gradient of Sawmills Lane, we would expect some of the speeds to 
be extremely inappropriate, especially given the location of the crossing 
patrol.  There would also be a more significant displacement of parking into 
the surrounding residential areas.  We are proposing to introduce a ‘No 
Waiting at Any Time’ restriction outside the front of the garage which will 
remove parking but allow lawful loading and unloading on the highway. 

15 Representation 2 

“Parish Council is opposed to this scheme, but would still like to see a No 
Waiting scheme perhaps with bollards at roadside nearer the school 
crossing.” 

 
16 Response 2  

No reason given behind the objection, however we do plan to proceed with 
the installation of bollards at 2 locations on Sawmills Lane.  Motorists who are 
parking on the footway are only considering other motorists by keeping the 
road as clear as possible, but with little or no regard for the pedestrians who 
need to use the footway.  These bollards should keep the vehicles off the 

Page 10



 3 

footway thus allowing free passage for the pedestrians who wish to use it.  
The proposed restrictions will also cover the location of the school crossing 
patrol and should move vehicles away from this location, thus potentially 
improving road safety. 

17 Representation 3 

This issue was raised by 2 respondents. 
Your restrictions may ease congestion on the main road but they will create 
even further congestion and danger on narrow residential streets in the area 
which are less capable of dealing with traffic volume than the main road 
 

18 Response 3 
 

It is accepted that the introduction of parking restrictions in some cases can 
displace parking.  We have recognised the demand for parking by retaining an 
unrestricted area on the north side of Sawmills Lane.  By allowing some 
limited parking on Sawmills Lane, we can minimise the numbers of vehicles 
moving to residential streets and the potential for increased speed on 
Sawmills Lane. 

19 Representation 4 

 It (the scheme) extends up Sawmills Lane beyond the Garage yet appears to 
ignore the problems there (outside the Garage) 

20 Response 4 

Outside the garage we are proposing to introduce a ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ 
restriction, this will remove parking but allow lawful loading and unloading on 
the highway.  We are mindful that an element of parking should be retained as 
imposing parking restrictions on Sawmills Lane will not make the vehicles 
suddenly disappear, they will just be displaced.  They will be parked 
elsewhere which will be the closest to where they were before and therefore 
this will be within the residential streets. Within this scheme we have looked to 
balance the demand for parking with the available space on the public 
highway and the potential consequences. 
 

21  Representation 5 
 

The introduction of double yellow lines (NO WAITING AT ANY TIME) would 
severely impact movement of retail vehicles 
 

22  Response 5 
 

The ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restriction permits lawful loading and unloading, 
but will restrict parking.  The movement of retail vehicles outside the garage 
will not be affected.  However, they would not be able to park within the 
extents of the parking restriction.  To balance the demand for parking we plan 
to retain a section of unrestricted highway south east of the garage on the 
north side of Sawmills Lane.   

 

Page 11



 4 

Recommendations and reasons 

23 It is recommended that, having considered the objections, the Committee 
endorses the proposal to proceed with the implementation of waiting and 
loading restrictions as per the plan in Appendix 2 

Background papers 
 

24 Scheme File 

   

 
 
 

Contact:  David Battensby  Tel: 0191 3324400  

Page 12



 5 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 

Finance – Neighbourhood Services Local Area Programme 
Staffing - None 
Risk - None 
Equality and Diversity - None 
Accommodation - None 
Crime and Disorder – Reduced footway obstruction 
Human Rights - None 
Consultation – As per Item 6 and 7 in the report 
Procurement - None 
Disability Discrimination Act - None 
Legal Implications - None 
 
 
 

Page 13



 6 

Appendix 2:  Plan of proposal 
 
 
Note photos may be useful in report but are a MUST for Committee 
 

Page 14



PATH:

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey

• • •• • • • •••• •••• • •• • • ••• ••• ••• ••• • ••• • •• • •• •• •• •• ••• • • •• •• •••• • •• •• •• • • •• • • • ••• • •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or

• •• •••• •• • • • • •• • • •••• • •• • • •• • • • •• •• • • • • •••••• • •• • • • • • • • • ••• • • • ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

1/1000

C154, SAWMILLS LANE, BRANDON

CONSULTATION PLAN

N82102/04

KEY:

Proposed No Waiting/Loading At Any Time.

Proposed No Waiting At Any Time..

0/A

0/A A.Bruce 06/10

IN FAVOURAGAINST

P
age 15



P
age 16

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Highways Committee 
 

28 June 2011 
 

Proposed Tables And Chairs Licence 
 

Stanley Jefferson Public House,  
5 Market Place, Bishop Auckland 

 

 

 
 

Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director 

Councillor Neil Foster, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To advise the Committee of the representations received with regard to an 
application under the provisions of Section 115E of the Highways Act 1980 to 
place tables and chairs on the highway outside the Stanley Jefferson Public 
House, Market Place, Bishop Auckland, County Durham. 

2 Having considered the representations, the Committee is recommended to 
endorse the proposal to place tables and chairs outside the Stanley Jefferson 
Public House. 

Background 

3 The footway outside the above property is within a busy commercial town 
centre area and as such is classified as a category 2 inspection footway 
meaning that regular maintenance inspections are completed.  It is best 
practice adopted throughout the County that category 2 footways need to 
have a minimum of 2.3 metres of unobstructed footway for pedestrian 
movements.  Works to widen the footway at this location were completed 
under an urban renewal and renaissance initiative scheme which took place 
between October 2009 and February 2010. 

4 There are currently three premises with tables and chairs licences in the 
vicinity, these include 1, Market Place (shown in blue on plan 1 attached), 2, 
Market Place (shown in green on plan 1 attached) and 41 Market Place, 
(shown in red on plan 1 attached). 

5 An application was received from JD Wetherspoon plc to place tables and 
chairs on the footway of classified road C188 outside The Stanley Jefferson, 
Public House, 5 Market Place, Bishop Auckland, County Durham, DL14 7NJ.  
The public house is open 7 days a week from 8.00am until 12 midnight 
Sunday to Thursday and 8.00am until 1.00am Friday and Saturday.  The 
application asks for the seating area to operate 7 days a week from 8am until 
11.00pm. 

6 JD Wetherspoon plc has a premises licence which was issued after variation 
on 18 March 2010.  This licence authorised the sale of alcohol for 

Agenda Item 4

Page 17



 2 

consumption within the premises and outside the premises (see copy licence 
attached). 

7 The application received showed that planning permission for a change of use 
to provide a café seating area had been sought and had been granted (see 
planning approval documentation).   

8 Consultations were completed as part of the tables and chairs authorisation 
process.  There were concerns raised by the Police and Councillor Zair.  The 
Police raised concerns regarding emergency access/egress along with 
concerns regarding the effect of the reduced footway width during peak taxi 
operating times, as a result the Police stated that they were unable to lend 
their support to the application and requested that the application be refused 
on the grounds of public order and road safety.  Councillor Zair also raised 
concerns regarding safety due to the proximity of the proposed tables and 
chairs to the taxi rank at evenings, particularly over the period from Thursday 
to Sunday.  

 

Recommendations and reasons 

9 It is recommended that the Committee authorise the proposal to place tables 
and chairs at the Stanley Jefferson Public House, Market Place, Bishop 
Auckland and approve the following conditions.   

(a) The area agreed with the Area Traffic Engineer to be licensed for tables 
and chairs is shown on the attached plan (Plan 2) and ensures that the 
minimum width of 2.3m is maintained for pedestrian movements. 

(b) It is recommended that due to the concerns raised a time restriction is 
placed on the operation of the area with the tables and chairs to be 
removed by 21.30 hrs at the latest, each evening. 

(c) It is recommended that due to the concerns raised a barrier to prevent 
“table creep” should be used to define the agreed consent area.  The 
barrier should be of a temporary nature to facilitate its removal each 
evening.   

(d) The conditions of the tables and chairs permission states that “The 
tables and chairs, whether in use or otherwise, shall occupy only that 
part of the highway agreed by the Traffic Manager. The tables and 
chairs should be so positioned to cause as little restriction along the 
highway as possible and must not encroach beyond the limits of the 
consent area”, however, it is recommended that due to the concerns 
raise a condition specifying that Tables and chairs must not obstruct 
emergency access/egress to the property of adjacent premises. 

(e) To minimise the effect during peak times it is recommended that the 
tables and chairs are not placed on Market Days. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18



 3 

 
 
Background papers 
 

Location plan of area showing current authorised tables and chairs permissions. 

Copy of premises licence 

Copy of planning consent documentation 

Plan showing the area authorised for tables and chairs outside the Stanley Jefferson 
Public House 

Copy of concerns forwarded from Durham Police and Councillor Zair. 

 

Contact:  Roger Culpin  Tel: 0191 383 3702 

Page 19



 4 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance –  

There are no financial implications applicable to this scheme.  An application fee has 
been received and the licence is subject to an annual renewal fee.  The public house 
carries public liability insurance and through agreement of the licensing conditions, 
indemnifies The Council against liability. 

 

Staffing –  

There are no staffing implications applicable to this scheme.  Administration and 
inspections will be undertaken as part of the routine roles of existing staff. 

 

Risk –  

It is not considered that the placement of tables and chairs at this location, with the 
conditions specified, will pose a risk to members of the public, Durham County 
Council or emergency service personnel. 

 

Equality and Diversity –  

Clearances have been maintained in order that the application does not hinder 
access along the public footway for pedestrians and wheelchairs/mobility vehicles. 

 

Accommodation –   

There are no accommodation implications applicable to this scheme.  

 

Crime and Disorder –  

It is considered that the placement of tables and chairs at this location will enhance 
the area and with the conditions specified no negative impact should be felt. 

 

Human Rights –  

It is not considered that the placement of tables and chairs at this location, with the 
conditions specified, will affect human rights. 

 

Consultation –  

Consultations have been completed by the Network Management and Planning 
divisions of Regeneration and Economic Development and Planning.  These 
consultations included affected residents and businesses along with emergency 
services and statutory undertakers.  The replies received by Network Management 
included CE Electric who stated there were no objections to the proposal providing 
that their rights are not affected, Sabic who stated there was no objection as their 
apparatus was unaffected, the ambulance service who stated that the tables and 

Page 20



 5 

chairs must not hinder responding emergency vehicles and the concerns raised by 
the Police and Councillor Zair, previously discussed. 

 

Procurement –  

There are no procurement implications applicable to this scheme. 

 

Disability Discrimination Act –  

Clearances have been maintained in order that the application does not hinder 
access along the public footway for pedestrians and wheelchairs/mobility vehicles. 

 

Legal Implications –  

Durham County Council would be responsible for ensuring that the area set aside for 
the use of tables and chairs is compliant with the conditions of the licence.  The 
licence documentation affirms that “The County Council may at any time revoke 
consent upon the breach of any of the conditions of consent or for any reason the 
Council may consider appropriate”. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Plan 1 - Current Approved S115 Licences - Market Place, Bishop Auckland 

 

 

Scale 1: 750   

 

P
age 23



P
age 24

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



Plan 2

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 28th June 2011   
 

Stanhope Ford 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Terry Collins, Corporate Director for Neighbourhood Services 

Councillor Bob Young, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Environment and Leisure 

 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1. To appraise Members of safety issues surrounding the continued 

use of Stanhope Ford and the responses received to a statutory 
public consultation exercise linked to the  publication of a traffic  
order to permanently close the ford to vehicular traffic. 

 
2. To inform the committee of a proposal to hold a non statutory public 

inquiry to consider the objections and representations received 
during the public consultation exercise and to receive the 
committees views on this proposal. 

 
Background 
 
 

3. Stanhope Ford is an unclassified road forming an optional crossing 
point on the River Wear in Weardale, linking the B6278 with the 
A689 (Appendix 2). The B6278 crosses the river upstream of 
Stanhope Ford by a road bridge known as ‘Stonebridge’ which has 
been assessed by Engineers as being suitable for typical ‘B’ road 
classification traffic flow.  

 
4. The B6278 has a recorded ‘Annual Average Daily Traffic Flow’ 

(AADT) of 724 vehicles per day. In contrast, from surveys 
undertaken in January 2007, at the southern approach ramp to the 
ford, the 7 day average traffic flow for that particular week of 
vehicles using the ford is recorded as 60 vehicles per day. It is 
generally accepted that summer months will have increased traffic 
flows across the ford, but no traffic flow data is available to show 
this comparison. 

 
5. The ford consists of a reinforced concrete slab bed 4 metres wide 

and some 50 metres long including approach aprons.  It is one of 
only a few fords within the country which traverses a main river and 
is known to be a popular attraction to both locals and tourists during 
the summer months. To some extent, Stanhope Ford was utilised 

Agenda Item 5

Page 43



by the local residents as a ‘shortcut’ between the A689 and B6278, 
saving the need to travel approximately three quarters of a mile if 
they were to follow the designated B6278 route. (Appendix 2) 

 
6. Over the past ten years, this being the extent of the information 

available, there has been 23 reported incidents at the Ford. 
Motorists have become stranded when attempting to traverse the 
ford during adverse weather conditions. In some cases, this has 
necessitated rescues by the Emergency Services. 

 
7. In 2007, following representations from the Emergency Services, 

the County Council considered the reports provided by them. It was 
possible to link these incidents with the hydrological (river flow) data 
supplied by the Environment Agency (Appendix 4).  Following a 
number of management team meetings and public consultation, a 
report was taken to the Council’s Highways Committee in 2007 to 
confirm a Traffic Regulation Order which would seasonally prohibit 
the use of the ford by vehicular traffic between the period of 1st 
October to 31st March each year.  Based upon the historic 
incident/flow data research, this seasonal road closure period was 
aimed at significantly reducing the number of incidents that the 
Emergency Services were called to attend. During the “closed 
season”, lockable barriers are brought into operation on both 
riverbanks and motorists continue their journey on the B6278 to 
cross the river bridge upstream of the ford. 

 
Recent Incidents 
 

8. The Ford was closed under the seasonal closure order and re-
opened on the 1st April 2008, to traffic. At this time, the river was in 
spate (flood condition following heavy rainfall) and unfortunately, 
once again, a motorist attempted to traverse the ford that same day, 
becoming stranded in rising water levels. This resulted in the 
Emergency Services attending and actioning a rescue of the 
vehicle’s occupants. A number of previous Emergency Services 
rescues, have necessitated the assistance of an RAF helicopter the 
most recent of which was reported in the national press with TV 
coverage. 

 
9. At the time the incident in April 2008 unfolded, the Police used their 

emergency powers to re-impose a road closure of the Ford, arising 
from their road safety concerns. The ford has remained closed to 
vehicular traffic since that incident. During this 38 month period of 
closure ,that has now elapsed, there has been very few complaints 
from the general public other than representations by Stanhope 
Parish Council who have continually opposed the closure of the 
ford.  

 
 
 
 

Page 44



Current Situation 
 

10. In recent years, there has been a significant build-up of rocks and 
gravel downstream of the ford which has effectively acted as a 
natural dam to the rivers flow, causing increased water depth levels 
across the ford. The increased river depth combined with the 
velocity of the rivers flow across the ford is considered to be one of 
the primary reasons why vehicles are becoming stranded in the 
river. In particular, water enters the air in-take pipes on vehicle 
engines causing the engine to stall as it fills with water. It is further 
known that river levels can rise quickly as a result of “cloud breaks” 
up on the Pennine Hills which are known to create river bores at 
any time of the year. 

 
11. It has become clear in recent years that the incidents are not 

confined to certain times of the year.  Therefore, the seasonal traffic 
order does not afford the protection of the public. Following the 
concerns of the Police arising from the continued incidents at 
Stanhope Ford, and two recent fatal incidents elsewhere in the 
Country involving 4x4 vehicles being swept from fords, it has in the 
circumstances become necessary to implement a temporary road 
closure order which remains in place to this date. 

 
12. The Police and Fire Services remain seriously concerned about 

overall public safety due to the behaviour of some motorists who 
continue to ignore warning signage regarding the ford conditions 
and proceed to cross the ford in spate conditions. Such behaviour 
not only puts motorists lives at risk but also the lives of emergency 
services personnel attempting to rescue stranded motorists and 
vehicles from the ford. 

 
Consultations 
 

13. The County Council have published a traffic order to revoke the 
Seasonal order  which closes the Ford between 1st October and 31st 
March each year and is proposing  to implement  a permanent 
‘Prohibition of Driving’ Traffic Order. The existing lockable barrier 
either side of the ford would therefore be in its closed position  
permanently. 

 
14. Arising from the statutory consultation, we have received thirteen 

responses of support, which have included support from the Police, 
the Fire Service, the Ambulance Service, the Environment Agency 
and some residential properties located near the ford access road. 

 
15. Twenty-one objections, which include responses from members of 

the public, Stanhope Parish Council and Weardale Area Action 
Partnership were received. 

 
 

 

Page 45



16. In addition, we have received objections from three specialist 
motoring organisations including the organisers of The Beamish 
Reliability Rally who together with other motoring organisations 
have historically utilised the ford as a ‘special stage’ in their car rally 
routes.  

 
17. A handwritten petition to ‘Save Stanhope Ford’ was received 

containing 82 signatures.  
 

18. We also have non-statutory representations made via a ‘Facebook’ 
website created by campaigners that recorded 1,007 members 
resulting in 350 objections when viewed on 18th November 2010, 
being the end of the statutory objection period. 

 
19. The Local Members, Councillor Shuttleworth and Councillor 

Savoury were both consulted and offered objections to the 
proposals believing Stanhope Ford to be essential to Stanhope’s 
heritage and tourism. 

 
Conclusion 
 

20. In the light of the volume of objections to this published traffic order, 
and the complexity of the evidence and legal issues involved, it is 
considered to be good practice to hold a non statutory public 
inquiry. In such circumstances an Inspector with expertise in these 
matters will be appointed. The inspector will produce a report and 
recommendation, having considered all the evidence, to the  
Corporate Director of Neighbourhood Services to implement. 

 
Recommendation and Reasons 
 

21. It is RECOMMENDED that the Committee endorse the Director’s 
proposal  to appoint an inspector to hold a Public Inquiry to consider 
the objections received and thereafter provide a report and 
recommendation for the Corporate Director of Neighbourhood 
Services to implement. 

 
Background Papers 
 

22. Traffic & Community Engagement – Area 2:  
 

a. Stanhope Ford correspondence files. 
b. Stanhope Ford consultation files 

 
23. Structures Office 

 
a.  Inspection files 
b. Maintenance files 

 
 

Contact: Steve Keetley, Head of Technical Services 0191 383 3465 

Page 46



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 

1. Finance   
There will be a cost involved appointing an inspector to hold the public 
inquiry and also staffing the public inquiry.   

 

2. Staffing  

A number of staff from Neighbourhood Services and Corporate & Legal 
Services will be directly involved for the duration of the public inquiry. 

 

3. Risk  None 
 
 

4. Equality and Diversity  

Equality Impact Assessment completed 

 

5. Accommodation None 

  

6. Crime and Disorder None 

 

7. Human Rights None 

  

8. Consultation 

Completed in accordance with the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
 

9. Procurement None 

 

10. Disability Discrimination Act  

Equality Impact Assessment completed 

 

11. Legal Implications  

The non statutory public inquiry is a recognised means of dealing with 
Traffic Regulation Orders and is considered a democratic means of 
determining the number of objections and representations received 
during the public consultation exercise. 

 

Page 47



 
APPENDIX 2 – Location Plan of the Ford 

 

P
age 48



Page 7 of 8 

APPENDIX 3 –Photographs of the Ford 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



Page 8 of 8 

APPENDIX 4 – INCIDENT LOG & RIVER FLOW DATA ANALYSIS 
 
Durham Fire & Rescue Service provided the County Council with a list of incidents they had 
attended covering the period from 1st October 2001 to 31st December 2006, giving dates and 
times. The Council was made aware of a further two significant incidents post 2006, which 
have been recorded in the table below. The Council have been able to match the above 
incident data against Hydrograph records provided by Northumbrian Water / Environment 
Agency, who have a gauging station upstream of Stanhope Ford. 
 
For the purpose of the exercise, the Mean Average Annual Flow Rate of the River is 
recorded as 3.72cubic metres per second at Stanhope Gauging Station. 
 
Maximum Recorded Flow Rate reading 2001 to 2004 = 136 cu. m. per sec. 
 

Incident Date and Time River Flow Rate 
(cu.m per sec) 

Comments 

1 October 2001 : 1524hrs 20.30  

3 October 2001 : 1259hrs 5.61  

26 October 2001 : 0638hrs 4.37  

27 November 2001 :1348hrs 20.18  

29 December 2001 : 1631hrs 2.66  

17 January 2002 : 1739hrs 4.90  

16 March 2002 : 2014hrs 9.15  

24 May 2002 : 1844hrs 11.20  

29 December 2003 : 1511hrs Vehicle Stuck on Ice  

19 January 2004 : 1228hrs 23.3 Mercedes Van Incident 

18 August 2004 : 2050hrs 27.2 Mitsubishi 4x4 Incident 

24 October 2004 : 1345hrs 17.12 Audi Car Incident 

22 November 2004 : 14.22hrs 6.3 Flooded Engine 

21 January 2005 : 1245hrs 5 Stand-by call 

30 January 2005 : 1637hrs No data available 4 people stranded in car 

9 April 2005 : 1918hrs No data available Stand-by call 

4 December 2005 : 1108hrs 4.8 Recovered with Landrover 

17 December 2005 : 1302hrs No data available  

17 February 2006 : 1934hrs 3.7 Recovered with Landrover 

22 October 2006 : 1243hrs 11.7 RAF Helicopter Rescue 

23 November 2006 : 1321hrs 10.5 Landrover & winch used 

30 October 2007 : 0913hrs >20 Argos Delivery wagon 
(Before TRO imposed) 

01 April 2008 : 1027hrs >20 Peugeot Car 

 

It is known that increases in water depth on the River Wear can be rapid.   For 
example, on 19th March 2004, during a typical period of rainfall, a depth reading at 
the ford taken at    7.50 a.m. measured 250mm.  A further depth reading taken that 
same day at 1400 hrs measured 600mm.  

Page 50


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Meetings held on 11 and 19 April 2011
	minutes 19.4.11

	3 C154 Sawmills Lane, Brandon, Parking Restrictions - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services
	Consultation Summary Plan

	4 Proposed Tables And Chairs Licence - Stanley Jefferson Public House, 5 Market Place, Bishop Auckland - Report of Corporate Director, Regeneration
	Item 4 Plan 1- Current Approved Licences
	Item 4 Premises Licence
	Item 4 Planning Docs
	Item 4 stanley jefferson (2) Market Place 9-06-11

	5 Stanhope Ford - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services

